FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/26/2024 4:54 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Case #: 1036523

NO. 86162-0-1

DIVISION I COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MATHEW AND KAYLYNE NEWELL, Petitioners

v.

PIERCE COUNTY, WASHINGTON Respondent

PETITION FOR REVIEW BY THE SUPREME COURT

Carolyn A. Lake, WSBA #13980 Goodstein Law Group PLLC 501 South G Street Tacoma, WA 98405 (253) 779-4000 Attorney for Petitioners Newell

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners are property owners Mathew and Kaylyne

Newell.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Court of Appeals, Division I Case No. 86162-0-1 filed

October 28,2024 is attached Appendix 1.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. County's Actions Violated Petitioners' Constitutionally Protected Non-Conforming Property Rights. RAP 13.4(b)(3).
- B. Person/Persons, Acting Under Color of State Law, Violated Petitioners' Substantive Due Process Rights, Depriving Them of Constitutionally Protected Property Rights, Contrary to 42 U.S.C § 1983. RAP 13.4(b)(3).
- C. Review should be accepted to clarify substantial public interest issue of application and scope of non-conforming use rights. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

IV. SUMMARY OF WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This case should be accepted for review pursuant to RAP

13.4(b), prongs (3) and (4).¹ <u>Review should be accepted under</u>

<u>RAP 13.4(b)(3)</u> because Petitioners have a vested right to

¹ RAP 13.4(b)(3): If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

maintain their non-conforming use. Petitioners' vested right is a constitutionally cognizable property right. The County Deputy Hearing Examiner's ("HE") Decisions erroneously extinguish Petitioners' legal nonconforming use without compensation and in violation of Petitioners' constitutional rights.²

<u>Review should be accepted under RAP 13.4(b)(3)</u> because Petitioners have shown that person/persons, acting under color of state law, violated their substantive due process right and deprived them of a constitutionally protected property right, contrary to 42 U.S.C § 1983 by bringing multiple, unfounded enforcement actions against Petitioners. Those County acts violated Petitioners' substantive due process right, and if upheld, wrongly eliminates Petitioners' business.

<u>This Petition also presents an issue of substantial public</u> <u>interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4) offering</u> the Court opportunity to clarify substantial public interest issue of application and scope of non-conforming rights. Despite affirmation by multiple

² RCW 36.70C.130(1)(f): The land use decision violates the constitutional rights of the party seeking relief.

county planners, both pre and post property purchase that their intended use was grandfathered, the County instead applied a subsequently enacted code to extinguish Newells' nonconforming use and render their business illegal. Most cities and county codes include nonconforming use provisions, which are often invoked. A review of appellate cases shows eleven cases where centerpiece issue was nonconforming use iust in 2023-2024.³ Review would add needed clarity.

V. STATEMENT OF CASE

Before making a one-million-dollar purchase to relocate

their dump truck contracting yard business, Petitioners Matthew

³ Matthew and Kaylyne Newell v. Pierce County, Docket Number: 86162-0-I (28 October 2024); King Cntv. v. Friends of Sammamish Valley, 525 P.3d 214 (27 February 2023); Judith Zimmerly, Jerry Nutter, & Nutter Corp. v. Columbia River Gorge Comm'n 527 P.3d 84, (2023); English Farm LLC v. City of Vancouver, Docket Number: 56890-0-II (May 02, 2023); King Cnty. v. Friends of Sammamish Valley, 530 P.3d 1023 (June 12, 2023) (Superseded); Kitsap Cnty. v. Kitsap Rifle & Revolver Club, Docket Number: 57628-7-II (June 21, 2023); Olsen v. Chelan Cnty. Docket Number: 39177-9-III, (June 27, 2023); Icicle/Bunk, LLC v. Chelan Cnty., 537 P.3d 321 (October 17, 2023); Latta v. Chelan Cnty., Docket Number: 39261-9-III (October 31, 2023); Munce v. City of Anacortes, Docket Number: 57940-5-II (November 07, 2023); H4IT Props. v. Chelan Cntv., Docket Number: 39772-6-III (October 03, 2024).

and Kaylyne Newell ("Petitioners" or "Newells"), understandably undertook pre-purchase due diligence by seeking out qualified Pierce County Planning Staff to confirm their use would be allowed on the property ("Property").

Newells were aware that in **2004** County Planner confirmed the Property as a non-conforming contractor yard use. "…in 1978, the Property was zoned General (G)....This zone allowed a contractor's yard outright per the code in effect at the time." In 1995, the zone was changed to Rural Separator. CP301-302.

In May 2013, before Newells owned the Property, the County brought Enforcement Action (NOV) alleging the contractor yard had been enlarged. CP304-308. CP329. Aerials dated 1998/99, 2011, 2012- depict the contractor yard extended full site. CP364-366. Then-owners appealed and the County withdrew the NOV. CP309-317.

Pre-purchase, Newell expressly asked about the grandfathered use scope several times to County Planner in writing. CO319. That Planner undertook research and affirmed multiple times in writing that Newells' planned use met the

non-conforming use scope. CP319-320. In reliance, Newells purchased the Property **January 2019** and operated their contractor yard use. CP321-322;CP276.

In **March 2019** the County issued enforcement "Inquiry" to Newells. CR323-325. Planning staff conferred and concluded that Newells' use met the 2004 confirmed Contractor Yard nonconforming use. CP275.

In **September 2019**, spurred on by complaints of one unhappy constituent, and amplified by an elected official's staff, county Planner brought enforcement against Newells for allegedly enlarging the use. CP275,334-337. The Planner correctly characterized Newell's use as contractor yard, but incorrectly claimed that Newells "enlarged" the use. Newells appealed, citing their use's grandfathered status, and noting the size and area of the use was unchanged since 2013, six years prior to Newell's 2019 purchase as documented by County aerials. CP328,275,338-348,CP364-366. County Planners agreed! The enforcement action was rescinded. CP350.

Thereafter, Emails show that the one complaining

- 5 -

constituent continued to needle the elected official.

CP229,331,354-356. Emails also show County Planning Staff

met from time to time in response and remained steadfast

Newells' use was legally non-conforming. CP275-276.Ignoring

the Planners' opinions, the elected official's staff continued to

brainstorm on stopping Newells' use CP326,328,330,333,

CP326;354-356,327. Each time elected officials got involved,

enforcement was aimed at Newells:

Planning Action:

CP323- On March 8, 2019, County "investigates;" sends Newells enforcement "Inquiry".

CP275. **June - July 11, 2019** As a result Planners conferred, finding Newells' use <u>non-conforming</u>- Planning closed the case.

First Elected Official Interference:

CP326 -May 29, 2019 - Elected official staff emails suggest rebranding Newell use as new "truck dispatch use"

CP275 June 17, 2019, within a few weeks, outlier Planner Hoffmann opened a new Case to claim Newells expanded the Contractor Yard.

CP331 August 8, 2019 – Constituent complains to Elected County Council: "When I contacted you regarding the noise issues from this truck company, I asked for a response. I would like to take this time to thank you for it, oh, wait you never responded. To me this shows a lack of interest by our elected representative of this area. Will most certainly be relaying that info on the Facebook pages for this community and especially when election time comes."

- **CP 328-** August 13-18, 2019 more Emails between planning and elected official staffs- "this has been on council's radar" "CM [council member] needs to give constituent update." "Your saying county determined no permit I need to be certain because CM X is communicating".
- **CP 330-** August 18, 2019- Email from Elected Official asks: "what are we doing about this?" & more Emails fly between planning and elected official staffs
- **CP 333-August 30, 2019-** Matter is elevated to County Executive September 5, 2019 -Exec's staff asks elected official: what's happening?
- **CP334-337 September 6, 2019-** Hoffmann issues Violation notice (NOTC) to Newells on previously abandoned theory of unpermitted expansion of Contractor Yard

CP275. September 20, 2019, Newells timely appealed the NOTC

CP275. **November 4, 2019**, after appeal, Planner Hoffmann rescinded NOTC.

Continued Elected Interference:

CP228-229 January 6, 2020⁴, Hoffmann sends Newells 2nd NOTC, claims Newells operate "new" use of truck fleet delivery.

CP354-356 Jan-to Feb, 2020, Elected Official updates Constituent: "new levels of enforcement being enacted"

⁴ **Appendix 2;** PCC 18A.33.280(B)&(I) defining the two uses.

CP 327-June 22, 2020. Elected Official pushes back on planner pausing enforcement during Covid – Asks any way to move forward?

CP 230-232⁵ - June 25, 2020. Hoffmann issues present NOTC – Newells re-branded as Dispatch Fleet Truck use.

Newells appealed. CP200,357-362. Significantly, the County

expressly stated it was NOT pursuing a claim of an enlarged

contractor yard use, but rather Newells' use was a truck

dispatch use, under the new code.⁶

The County presented Planner Hoffman as sole witness.⁷

The Planner testified both that Newells' use fit the non-

conforming contactor yard use,⁸ then testified based on his one-

day's observation of parked trucks on 24 December 2020,

Newells' use was a truck fleet dispatch use.⁹ On cross, the

⁵ Appendix 2

⁶ CP18-Transcript of HE Hearing **Appendix 3** ("HETR")17:11-12; CP23HETR22:3-21, ⁷ CP10 20 HETP18 28 CP20 30 HETP28 20 CP40 47

⁷ CP19-29-HETR18-28,CP29-30-HETR28-29,CP40-47-HETR39-46,CP47-62-HETR46-61.

 ⁸ CP31-HETR30:24-31:8,CP37-HETR36:1-10,CP38-TR37:4-38:5, CP30-HETR38:20-39:4,CP42-HETR41:20-42:1,CP61-HETR60:2-20, CP61-TR60:25-61:14 CP37-HETR36:1-10.
 ⁹ CP24-HETR23:17-22,CP32-33-HETR31:20-32:8,CP28-HETR27:14-17,CP24-HETR23:14-22,CP32-33-HETR31:20-32-8.

Planner's testimony changed again, agreeing Newells' use was a contractor vard use.¹⁰ The Planner candidly admitted **he had no evidence** in exhibits or in testimony or in his possession that the Newells' trucks involved, "delivery of distributions from one vendor to another" CP40-HRTR39:5-11, as is required by definition of the truck dispatch use. PCC 18A.33.280(I). Two neighbors testified, but also importantly confirmed that Newells' use had not changed from January 2019.¹¹ Newells relied on the County's definition of contractor vard use¹² and submitted proof of County Planner's pre-purchase research and affirmation that Petitioners' intended use was non-conforming. Newells submitted gave proof of County's prior withdrawn enforcement and submitted their dump truck use contracts in support of construction sites and from construction company

¹⁰ CP56-57-HETR55:14-56:13.

CP59-HETR58:1-16,CP54-HETR53:1-9,CP60-HETR59:9-25. ¹¹ Neighbors testified Newells had more trucks, but County had made clear they were not pursuing use enlargement. Neighbors also testified non-Newell trucks had briefly parked on the Property but had been removed months prior to the HE hearing. CP88-HETR87:8-11,CP93-HETR92:13-20,CP96-TR 95:11-17. ¹² CP26-HETR8:17-25. PCC18A.33.280.B; CP120-121-HETR119:17-120:8,

owners describing Newells' use delivering aggregates to the construction sites, consistent with the County's definition of contractor yard use. CP367-369,CP370-372.¹³

Thereafter, despite the dearth of supporting evidence, the HE found the County established Newells' use was a truck fleet dispatch use, denying Newells' appeal and their Motion for Reconsideration. As a result, the nonconforming status of Newells' Property and use was extinguished.¹⁴

Newells filed a Land Use Petition Act ("LUPA") Chapter 36.70C.RCW appeal Petition.¹⁵ Newells pursued a 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claim ("1983 Claim") CP601-745, and damages based on the County's negligent misrepresentation. The Trial Court granted the LUPA appeal, CP562-563, but denied the negligent misrepresentation and1983 Claim. CP601-745, CP916-917.

¹³ CP101-116-HETR100-115,CP102-HETR101:22-24,CP121-HETR 120:2.
¹⁴ CP180-195.
¹⁵ CP450-501

VI. ANALYSIS IN SUPPORT OF REVIEW

A. COUNTY VIOLATED PETITIONERS' CONSTITUTIONALLY PROTECTED NON-CONFORMING USE PROPRTY RIGHTS. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

"Judicial review of land use decisions is governed by LUPA." *Whatcom County Fire Dist. No. 21 v. Whatcom County*, 171 Wn.2d 421, 426, 256 P.3d 295 (2011). In a LUPA appeal, the appellate court "sits in the same position as the superior court." *Id.* Deference is not given to the lower court's decisions. *Griffin v. Thurston County*, 165 Wn.2d 50, 55, 196 P.3d 141 (2008). Instead, the Court applies the LUPA standards to the administrative record and hearing examiner's decision, giving deference to the hearing examiner's legal and factual determinations. *Durland v. San Juan County*, 174 Wn.App. 1, 12, 298 P.3d 757 (2012).

Here review should be accepted. Petitioners are entitled to relief because "the land use decision violates the constitutional rights of the party seeking relief." RCW 36.70C.130(1)(f). This standard is a question of law, which this court reviews de novo. Whatcom County Fire Dist. No. 21, 171 Wn.2d at

426. "'In reviewing an administrative decision, [this court] stands in the same position as the superior court."' *Habitat Watch v. Skagit County*, 155 Wn.2d 397, 405-06, 120 P.3d 56 (2005).

To assert a LUPA due process claim, a person must show that they have a constitutionally protected property interest. *Durland v. San Juan County*, 182 Wn.2d 55, 69, 340 P.3d 191 (2014). "A constitutionally protected property interest exists when a plaintiff demonstrates that [they] possess[] a 'legitimate claim of entitlement' under the

law." *Id.* (quoting *Bd. of Regents v. Roth*, 408 U.S. 564, 577, 92
S.Ct. 2701, 33 L.Ed.2d 548 (1972)).

"A nonconforming use is a 'vested' property right that has protections." *Icicle/Bunk, LLC v. Chelan County*, 28 Wn.App.
2d 522, 529, 537 P.3d 321 (2023). *Van Sant v. City of Everett*,
69 Wash. App. 641, 649, 849 P.2d 1276 (1993).

The nonconforming use principle has its roots in common law. *City of Univ. Place v. McGuire*, 144 Wash.2d 640, 649, 30 P.3d 453 (2001). " 'A nonconforming use is a use which lawfully existed prior to the enactment of a zoning ordinance, and which is maintained after the effective date of the ordinance, although it does not comply with the zoning restrictions applicable to the district in which it is situated.' " *Id* . at 648, 30 P.3d 453 (quoting *Rhod-A-Zalea & 35th, Inc. v. Snohomish County* , 136 Wash.2d 1, 6, 959 P.2d 1024 (1998)).

The right to use and enjoy land is a property right. *Nollan v. California Coastal Comm'n*, 483 U.S. 825, 107 S.Ct. 3141, 97 L.Ed.2d 677 (1987); *West Main Assocs. V. City of Bellevue*, 106 Wash.2d 47, 50, 720 P.2d 782 (1986).

Although this Court reviews the Examiner's decision directly, the Trial Court's observation below is astute and worthy of consideration, finding Petitioners hold a lawful nonconforming use right:

There is no dispute the property has a prior nonconforming use, which in layman's terms is referred to as being "grandfathered in." That use was as a facility to support a business which located construction equipment, including dump trucks, and for that equipment's maintenance and repair historically. This was under a general-use zoning prior to enactment of PCC 18A.33.280, more specifically. And that use allowed a contractor's yard and associated use per the code then in effect.

The use of the property is and has been authorized under Pierce County Code 18A.33.280 as described as being a "contractor's yard" since at least the 1970s. By current ordinance, a "contractor's yard" is an "area for construction or contracting a business office, outdoor storage, repair and maintenance of heavy equipment and vehicles." Notably, "heavy equipment and vehicles" are not defined by the ordinance. Nevertheless, the plain meaning and understanding would include dump trucks.

The agency's explanatory note as to this particular section of the ordinance indicates that the property is meant to "support delivery of construction materials used in construction projects."

The unassailable testimony is that the property is used for dump trucking business, and those trucks transport materials consumed in various locations, which are construction projects.

CP623-624-LUPATR3:10-4:12,CP625-LUPATR6:17-21, LUPA TRANSCRIPT **Appendix 4**.

Petitioners' vested rights cannot be taken away once created.

Navlet v. Port of Seattle, 164 Wash.2d 818, 828 n. 5, 194 P.3d

221 (2008). Petitioners have the right to continue their legal

nonconforming uses, subject to proof of existence and

reasonable government regulations. City of Univ. Place v.

McGuire, 144 Wash.2d 640, 648, 30 P.3d 453 (2001);

McMilian v. King County, 161 Wash.App. 581, 591, 255 P.3d

739 (2011) ; 8A E. McQuillin, Municipal Corporations, §

25.180.20.

The Trial Court agreed the Petitioners should be allowed to

continue the nonconforming use:

At the outset, the law allows for a pre-existing legal non-conforming use to continue in spite of a subsequent contrary zoning ordinance being inactive or approved. *Jefferson County vs. Lakeside*, which is 106 Wn. App. 380, a 2001 case. I find and conclude that the preexisting use of the property for dump truck operations is a pre-existing use that is and should be allowed to continue.¹⁶

1. <u>Newells Established Non-Conforming Use By</u> <u>Substantial Evidence</u>

As the party asserting a nonconforming use, Petitioners had

burden of showing: "(1) that the use existed before the County

enacted the zoning ordinance, (2) that the use was lawful at the

time, and (3) that it did not abandon or discontinue the

use." Seven Hills, LLC v. Chelan County, 198 Wn.2d 371,

398, 495 P.3d 778 (2021). Newells met that burden.

¹⁶ CP626-LUPATR6:8-16. Appendix 4.

It's uncontested and supported by substantial evidence that County affirmed the non-conforming contractor yard use in 2004 and use continued through Newells' 2019 purchase. CP301-302. The pre-purchase use area is undisputed and documented by arial photos. CP3640366.The record shows Newells did not expand that area. Id. CP275-276.

It's also undisputed that Planner was given written and detailed description of Newells' planned use <u>pre-purchase</u>. CP319-321. The Planner confirmed Newells' planned use fell within nonconforming use scope. CP321-2.

Further, it's uncontested that <u>post-purchase</u>, when Newells appealed the County's first 2019 enforcement, numerous County planners agreed Newell's use was non-conforming. The County withdrew that enforcement action. CP275-276.

It's undisputed County Planner agreed Newells' activity described by Contractor CP367-378,370-372 is a contractor Yard use:

MS. LAKE: Okay. And would you agree that the activity described in this letter fits the description of a contractor yard use?

MR. HOFFMANN: From what they are describing in the letter, it sounds like there's specific jobs that the -- the dump -- the trailers and side dumpsters -- they call them side dumps – with experience, yeah, that the trucking mentioned in the letter is in support of a project, construction project or projects.

MS. LAKE: Well, you would agree that that's contractor yard use, correct?

MR. HOFFMANN: That would fit under a contractor yard use, yes.

CP38HETR 37:8- 38:5. Emphasis added. Similarly, NW Cascade describes that:

Newell Brothers drivers are experienced in the specific nature of heavy/civil constructions sites, as this is the only type of work that they have ever performed for us. Newell Brothers only operates dump truck/trailers and side dump trucks that are specifically designed for this type of dirt work."

CP376. It's undisputed Planner Hoffman agreed Newells'

activity described by NW Cascade is Contractor Yard use:

MS. LAKE: Okay. Would you agree that the activity described in this letter, performed by Newell Brothers, fits the -- the contractor yard use?

MR. HOFFMANN: Because they are providing aggregate goods to specific job sites, **yes**.

CP39HETR38:13-38:4. The HE also had undisputed evidence

from no less than three County Planners who all agree Newells'

activity is non-conforming contractor use. (Kamieniecki- 2004,

Buhl - 2018, and Arbogast- 2019). Also, prior owner's declaration describing his legally non-conforming use, was to "haul materials in support of construction projects," exactly as Newells do. CP363.

Newells submitted actual contracts, detailing Newells' activity delivering materials to construction projects.¹⁷ This precisely fits County's definition of (allowed) contractor yard use (**CP120,HETR 119:17-25**)- <u>not</u> the definition of (unallowed) "vendor to vendor" fleet delivery truck use.¹⁸

Factual issues are reviewed under substantial evidence standard. *Freeburg v Seattle*, 71 Wn. App 367, at 37, 859 P2nd 610 (1993).

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