FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/26/2024 11:28 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 1036523

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MATTHEW and KAYLYNE NEWELL, Appellants

v.

PIERCE COUNTY, Respondent

PIERCE COUNTY'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Court of Appeals, Division I No. 861620

> MARY E. ROBNETT Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney

By David C. Owen Peter J. Helmberger Deputy Prosecuting Attorneys Attorneys for Respondent

Pierce County Prosecutor's Office Civil Division / OID 91126 930 Tacoma Avenue South, Suite 946 Tacoma, WA 98402-2012 253-798-6732

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The County Did Not Violate the Newells' Constitutional Rights

Under RAP 13.4(b), review will be accepted only if the Court of Appeals' ruling is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court or a published decision of the Court of Appeals, a significant question of constitutional law is involved, or the petition involves a substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. The Newells allege that constitutional questions are at play, raising the possibility of review under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

A legal nonconforming use is one that does not conform to zoning law, but which lawfully existed at the time the law went into effect and has continued to exist without legal abandonment since that time. *Rhod-A-Zalea & 35th, Inc. v. Snohomish Co.*, 136 Wn. 2d 1, 6, 959 P.2d 1024 (1998). "[T]he initial burden of proving the existence of a nonconforming use is on the land user making the assertion." *Van Sant v. City of Everett*, 69 Wn. App. 641, 647-48, 849 P.2d 1276 (1993). The

landowner has the burden to prove that (1) the use existed prior to the contrary zoning ordinance, (2) the use was lawful at the time, and (3) the applicant did not abandon or discontinue the use for over a year prior to the relevant change. *King County* Dept. of Dev. & Envtl. Servs. v. King County, 177 Wn.2d 636, 643, 305 P.3d 240 (2013) (citing *Rhod-A-Zalea* at 6). In this matter it is not disputed that a Contractor Yard used on the parcel was previously approved by the County as a lawfully established nonconforming use. It is likewise not asserted that the unlawful activity is an expansion or even an intensification of that legally established use. The County's assertion is that the use has *changed*. Appellants assert some vague constitutional violation (citing to the review standard of RCW 36.70C.130(1)(f) rather than RAP 13.4(b)). This not only conflates the instant standard of review, but also conflates the County's underlying assertions. A Contractor Yard is still a lawfully established non-conforming use. This argument is misplaced yet takes up the majority of Newells' arguments

(along with recitations of irrelevant facts). The County doesnot seek to diminish or limit the Newells' nonconforming rights.The current violation is that the *new* use of Warehousing,Distribution, and Freight Movement is unlawful.

Although the Newells cite to RCW 36.70C.130(1)(a), (e), and (f), in the case before Division I, there was no distinctive argument about the Examiner's procedure, the Examiner's authority, *nor the constitutionality* of the Examiner's decision in the LUPA context (constitutionality was discussed in the context of the tort claim). But here we do not focus on the LUPA standards of review. Here we focus on the standards articulated in RAP 13.4.

Additionally, the Newells assert that they have raised "an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(4). They have not done so. Their proposed issues for review invoke not open questions of law but application of established law to their own preferred alternative version of the facts. In considering a Petition for Review, this Court should "decline to consider facts recited in the briefs but not supported by the record." *Sherry v. Financial Indemnity Co.*, 160 Wn.2d 611, 615-16 n.l, 16P.3d 31 (2007); *see, also, In re Dependency of Panilla P.B.*, 104 Wn.2d 643, 660, 709 P.2d 1185 (1985) ("[W]e cannot consider matters referred to in the brief but not included in the record.").

LUPA is clear that, to obtain reversal of a land use decision based on erroneous fact-finding, the Newells would have to show that the decision "is not supported by evidence that is substantial when viewed in light of the whole record before the court." RCW 36.70C.130(1)(c). "Substantial evidence is evidence that would persuade a fair-minded person of the truth or correctness of the matter." *Erection Co., Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 160 Wn. App. 194, 202, 248 P.3d 1085 (2011). The Court's review "necessarily entails acceptance of the factfinder's views regarding the credibility of witnesses and the weight to be given reasonable but competing inferences." *City of University Place v. McGuire*, 144 Wn.2d 640, 652, 30 P.3d 453 (2001) (quoting *State ex rel. Lige & Wm. B. Dickson Co. v. County of Pierce*, 65 Wn. App. 614,618,829
P.2d 217 (1992)).

The Newells share excerpts from the trial court's opinion. The trial court's opinion has no bearing on these proceedings. The Newells do not offer any analysis into the actual PCC provisions that are determinative of this case. Even if they did, questions of county code interpretation are not matters of "substantial public interest" necessitating review by the Washington Supreme Court.

B. The County Did Not Violate Newells' Substantive Due Process Rights (§ 1983 Argument)

Next, the Newells seek review of the lower courts' decisions regarding their claims for substantive due process violation. The Newells allege that County elected officials' staff involvement resulted in the rebranding of the Newells' property and subsequent land use enforcement action, which they allege violated their civil rights. This is without merit and the Newells fail to satisfy any criteria for review. Initially, the Court of Appeals declined to address the Newells' civil rights claims because they agreed with the County on the LUPA claims citing *Mercer Island Citizens for Fair Process v. Tent City*, 4 Wn. App. 393, 232 P. 3d 1163 (2010). *Mercer* held that claims for damages based on a LUPA claim must be dismissed if the LUPA claim fails. *See, also, Shaw v. City of Des Moines*, 109 Wn. App. 896, 901, 37 P.3d 1255 (2002) ("If the petitioner loses the LUPA appeal, the damages case is moot, and the matter is over."). *Congdon v. Island Cnty.*, 13 Wn. App. 2d 1007 (2020). The Court of Appeals was correct.

Consideration of the merits of the Newells' civil rights claims yields the same result. The trial court properly dismissed the Newells' 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claims for civil rights violations because there was no showing that the County acted in an arbitrary or capricious fashion in deciding to issue the NOTC, and because the Newells were afforded an opportunity to be heard regarding the validity of the NOTC in the form of a LUPA appeal.

"To succeed on a substantive due process claim, the plaintiff 'must show as a threshold matter that a state actor deprived it of a constitutionally protected life, liberty or property interest." Blocktree Properties, LLC v. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 2 of Grant Cnty. Washington, 447 F. Supp. 3d 1030, 1037 (E.D. Wash. 2020), aff'd sub nom. Cytline, LLC v. Pub. *Util. Dist. No. 2 of Grant Cnty., Washington,* 849 Fed. Appx. 656 (9th Cir. 2021), quoting Shanks v. Dressel, 540 F.3d 1082, 1087 (9th Cir. 2008). Substantive due process protects fundamental interests which are created by the Constitution. Blocktree Properties, 447 F. Supp. 3d at 1037-38, citing Regents of Univ. of Mich. v. Ewing, 474 U.S. 214, 229, 106 S.Ct. 507, 88 L.Ed.2d 523 (1985) (J. Powell, concurring). Property interests, however, are derived by state law and protected by procedural due process. *Blocktree Properties*, 447 F. Supp. 3d 1037–38, citing *Ewing*, 474 U.S. at 229, 106 S.Ct.507 (J. Powell, concurring).

The rights at issue in this case—permissible use of property under local zoning ordinances-do not flow from the Constitution, but rather from state law. See, Blocktree Properties, 447 F. Supp. 3d 1037-38. Accordingly, where the government is engaging in land use regulation, the substantive component of a due process claim "protects against arbitrary and capricious government action even when the decision to take action is pursuant to constitutionally adequate procedures." *Yim*, 194 Wn. 2d 688-89. When a governmental permitting decision is at issue, "only "egregious official conduct can be said to be 'arbitrary in the constitutional sense'": it must amount to an "abuse of power" lacking any "reasonable justification in the service of a legitimate governmental objective."" Shanks, 540 F.3d at 1088-890, quoting County of Sacramento v. Lewis, 523 U.S. 833, 846, 118 S. Ct. 1708.

Here, there simply is no evidence the government acted arbitrarily when it issued the NOTC. The Newells informed the County of their plans to run a "dump truck company," consistent with the prior owner's use. That business consisted of a dump truck and backhoe for excavating and the property was used for "storing and using dump truck to haul materials in support of construction projects" CP 363. However, the Newells' business consisted of much more than that.

The Newells operated a fleet of delivery trucks. CP 238-266. The Newells moved in with five trucks, later added two more, then started to lease trucks to the point of a dozen trucks being present, and other trucking companies using the site contributing to the increased traffic. The business morphed from 9 to 5 on weekdays to 24/7. CP 82-84. The description of the business is not in dispute. CP 188-19. There was a factual and legal basis for issuing the NOTC and it certainly cannot be described as arbitrary. The Newells' reliance on *Mission Springs, Inc., v. City of Spokane*, 134 Wn. 2d 947 (1998), and *Bateson v. Geisse*, 857 F. 2d 1300 (9th Cir. 1988), is misplaced. In *Mission Springs*, the Petitioner's application for a development was granted, which under a Spokane ordinance conferred a vested right to develop the property. After citizen complaints in the surrounding neighborhood came to the attention of the city, the Council held a public hearing, to which Mission Springs was not invited nor notified. Despite specific legal advice from their City Attorney, the Council voted unanimously to direct the City Manager and staff to refuse to further process or issue grading permits.

The Supreme Court ruled that the City Council violated Mission Springs Fourteenth Amendment rights to due process because the City Council's direction not to issue vested permits was done without authority under the law. *See, also, Bateson v. Geisse*, 857 F.2d 1300 (9th Cir. 1988) (City of Billings, MT, Council amended a zoning ordinance and voted to withhold permits after a builder obtained a building permit thereby violating the builder's constitutional rights).

The right deprived in *Mission Springs / Bateson* was to engage in the very construction project for which the permit was granted creating a vested right to proceed and there was no authority for the cities of Spokane or Billings to prohibit that work as the use permit had been issued. As the *Mission Springs* court found, their "clear legal rights" were "violated by city council members acting in *excess of their lawful authority*," by a "City Manager acting in *excess of his own lawful authority*," while disregarding the "well-founded legal advice from its City Attorney." *Mission Springs*, 134 Wn. 2d at 961.

Here, the right at issue concerns the Newells' continued use of a nonconforming business being subject to reasonable regulation because they changed that use. *Mission Springs / Bateson* do stand for the proposition that subsequent reasonable regulations are precluded. Nothing in *Mission Springs* holds, for example, the City of Spokane could not come back at a later time to investigate whether the actual work being done was in compliance with regulations. As the Supreme Court has stated on more than one occasion, "we are aware of no case law holding that property owners have a fundamental right to do what they wish on their property without being troubled by reasonable regulation." *Olympic Stewardship Foundation v. State Environmental and Land Use Hearings Office*, 199 Wn. App. 668, 720-21 (2017). *See, also, Yim v. City of Seattle*, 194 Wn.2d 682, 699, 451 P.3d 694, 702–03 (2019), as amended (Jan. 9, 2020).

The Newells' assertion that the County conducted investigations at the request of elected officials is not evidence of abuse of power or arbitrary conduct, nor does it put this matter in the category of *Mission Springs*. Citizens complaining to their elected officials who in turn contact the relevant agencies is how government is supposed to work. Merely that elected officials passed on complaints received for further investigation does not equate this matter to *Mission* *Springs* where the City Council and City Manager acted outside the bounds of governing law while ignoring advice of their attorney.

Issuing the NOTC was simply not the same thing as taking illegal action to revoke a vested right. Rather, here, the NOTC provided an opportunity for review with the Examiner's hearing and the LUPA process and was not an arbitrary act based on illegal action. Simply put, the Newells bought the property and immediately started to modify the use of the property. Neighbors complained, alerted the government, and after investigation issued the NOTC giving the Newells three options to bring their business into compliance as well as providing appeal rights.

The Newells' substantive due process rights were not violated.¹ The case law governing this issue is settled and this

¹ The property rights involved here are purely state-created and as such are protected by procedural due process. "Procedural due process requires notice and an opportunity to be heard before any governmental deprivation of a property interest."

case does not present a novel issue or one of significant constitutional importance. The Petition should be denied on this issue.

C. There Are No Grounds for a Negligent Misrepresentation Claim Because the County Conveyed Accurate Information

Next, the Newells assert that the County is liable under a theory of negligent misrepresentation based on pre-purchase communications with the County. Specifically, the Newells allege that these communications created a "special relationship" because the Newells were provided inaccurate statements regarding use of the property which they relied on to their detriment. The Court of Appeals decision is proper because the County did not give false information in response to a direct inquiry. There was no error and nothing about this issue satisfies RAP 13.4.

Bailey v. City of Pinellas Park, 147 Fed. Appx. 932, 935 (11th Cir. 2005), quoting *Zipperer v. City of Fort Myers,* 41 F.3d 619, 623 (11th Cir.1995). Absent arbitrary action the Newells' rights were not violated if they received due process, which of course they did and continue to do so.

The threshold determination on a claim for negligence is whether the government entity owed a duty of care to the plaintiff. *Taylor v. Stevens County*, 111 Wn. 2d 159, 163, 759 P. 2d 447 (1988). It is well-settled law that issuing building permits or zoning permits does not subject a government entity to liability under the public duty doctrine. *Taylor*, 111 Wn. 2d at 172. Accordingly, under the public duty doctrine, a government entity will not be liable for zoning decisions unless it is established that "the duty breached was owed to the injured person as an individual and was not merely the breach of an obligation owed to the public in general" *Taylor*, 111 Wn. 2d at 163; *Meany v. Dodd*, 111 Wn. 2d 174, 178 (1988).

An exception to the public duty doctrine exists if a special relationship forms between the government official and the permit applicant. "A duty of care may arise where a public official charged with the responsibility to provide accurate information fails to correctly answer a specific inquiry from a plaintiff intended to benefit from the dissemination of the information." *Taylor*, 111 Wn.2d 172, citing *Meany*, 111 Wn. 2d at 180.² This type of special relationship is created when: (1) there is direct contact between the public official and the plaintiff, (2) the official, in response to a *specific inquiry*, provides *express assurances*, and (3) the plaintiff justifiably relies on the express assurances. *Mull v. City of Bellevue*, 64 Wn. App. 245 (1992) (emphasis theirs).

"It is only where a *direct inquiry* is made by an individual and incorrect information is clearly set forth by the government, *the government intends that it be relied upon* and it is relied upon by the individual to their detriment, that the government may be bound." *Mull*, 64 Wn. App. at 252-53 (a builder's claim that the City planner's report, which mistakenly stated the height restriction in a particular zone was 30 feet, was

² The Newells' reliance on *ESCA v. KPMG Peat Marwick*, 135 Wn. 2d 820, 826, 959 P. 2d 651 (1998) is incorrect. That case discussed the nature of negligent misrepresentation between two private entities. Liability against government officials in the regulatory context is based on an analysis of the public duty doctrine.

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